
THOMAS M. FINNERAN, 

V. 

STATE BOARD OF RETIREMENT, 

Defendant. 

from the un:lerlying 

isputed by the parties. 

resentatives ("House") 

olk District. He was 

is resignation in Octob 

d he served in that cap 

is appeal. As a memb 

n 1978, 

-elected 

r 2004. 

city until 

of the 

pport the Constitution • f the 

tion and to perform hi- duties as 

stitution and Laws of 

No. 3052 	P. 2 Oct. 9. 2015 4:44PM 

SETTS COMMONWEALTH OF MASSAC 

SUFFOLK, ss. BO, 
Do 

 Do 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

	 ) 

TON MUNICIPAL C I URT 
Chester Division 
ket No,: 201.3 CV 0004 

Crl 

C) 

;:t3  
Cu 

zy 

0 

   

DECISION AND ORDER ON THE PARTIES' CROSS MOTIONS FOR JUDG NT ON 
THE PLEADINGS 

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BA( ICGOUND 

The following factual/procedural backgrounds are taken 

administrative record (citations omitted) and are not materially 

Finneran was elected to the Massachusetts House of Re' 

and became a member of the House in 1979, serving the 12th S 

every two years, and. he served as a member of the House until 

The House elected Finneran Speaker of the House five times, 

he resigned, and at all times pertinent to the events underlying 

House, Finneran took an oath of office in. which he pledged to s 

Commonwealth of Massachusetts and the United States Consti 

representative "agreeably to the rules and regulations of the Co 

Commonwealth." 
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The Redistricting Act of 2001 (St. 2001, c. 125) was ena, 

Speaker. As of result on the 2000 decennial census, the Legislat 

committee (the "Committee") to review existing legislative dis 

alterations to reflect the increase in the Commonwealth's popul 

Committee were responsible for reviewing and redrawing the 

members were responsible for the Senate districts. Finneran, as 

House members of the Committee and the House Chair of the d 

redrawing district lines is required, following population chang 

by the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment o 

to comply with the one-person, one-vote requirement. The Legi 

redistricting plan, and, on November 8, 2001, the Governor sig 

Among other changes, the plan increased the proportion of elig 

12th Suffolk District. 

In June 2002, African-American and Latino voters filed 

Court challenging the Redistricting Act as it applied to House di 

lawsuit claimed that the Redistricting Act, which redrew the bo 

2001, "super-packed" black and other minority voters into a fevU  

minority incumbents while increasing the percentage of white v 

by white incumbents. The Plaintiffs claimed that Finneran's di 

certain minority precincts and add other primarily white precin 

districts were redrawn with the constitutionally impermissible 

power of African-American and Latino voters and had the effect 

voters, contrary to the Voting Rights Act, 42 U.S.C. § 1973(b). 
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illiam Defendants in their official capacities, among others, Finneran Speaker of the House, 

F. Galvin as Secretary of the Commonwealth, and Jane Swift as overnor. In May 200 

amended complaint only named Secretary Galvin as defendant, ut Finneran was depos 

course of the lawsuit and testified at trial in November 2003. 

At trial, Finneran testified to the actions he took, and the! 

drafting and passage of the Redistricting Act, both in his role as 

member and representative from the 12th Suffolk District. Sped fically, Finneran testifi 

as Speaker, he had appointed the Committee Chair and recomm ded the Committee h' 

  

Attorney Lawrence DiCara during the process as counsel and th t he had conversations: rt'aoth 

the Chair and Attorney DiCara during the process. Finneran falSely testified at the trial,. at t 	- 
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the redistricting after the plan was filed with the House Clerk. the time of enterin& guLl  

plea, Finneran attributed his false testimony to finding the allegations of inteational 

discrimination "very, very troubling," "offen[sive]," and "angel 

In June 2005, a federal grand jury indicted Finneran for t 

count of obstruction of justice (Count Four), based on his false ti  

in the Voting Rights lawsuit, Count Four of the Indictment char 

misleading statements about (a) whether he had received a redis'  
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Representative Thomas Petrolati, House Chairman of the Joint S 
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Committee, in the development of the plan; (e) whether he had nnformation within his c tody 

and control regarding the racial characteristics of the precincts his district lost and gain ;d in the 

redistricting beyond that included in his deposition; (f) the exteht of his knowledge, at t e time of 

his deposition, regarding neighborhoods that had been removJ from or added to the 1 h Suffolk 

District during redistricting and the racial characteristics of those neighborhoods; and ( 

ence campaign activiti or 

our, in violation of 18 .S.C. § 

to pay a $2.5,000 fine. The 

pleaded guilty "was at 

der oath while testifyi 

remaining counts of 

whether he had within his possession a calendar that would evi'  

events. On January 5, 2007, Finneran pleaded guilty to Count 

1503, and was sentenced to probation for 18 months and ordere 

remaining counts were dismissed. The charge to which Firmer 

[Finneran] willfully had made misleading and false statements 

capacity as Speaker in [the] Federal voting rights lawsuit." Th 

Indictment were dismissed. 

In January 2007, the State Retirement Board (the "Boar 

retirement allowance due to his conviction. The Board schedul 

the hearing officer concluded that Finneran's conviction involv 

to his office or position. Among other things, the hearing office 

was acting in his official capacity when he took the actions that 

was sued in his official capacity . . . The subject matter of his te 

his official duties: The questions and answers that gave rise to 

concerned actions he took or may have taken, as a Member and 

Representatives, with respect to the development of a legislativ 

districts that has the potential to — and did — become the law in 
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officer found that, consistent with his oath to uphold the Constit 

give truthful testimony to a Court assessing the constitutionality 

conviction warranted forfeiture of his retirement allowance. On 

voted to accept the Hearing Officer's decision and recommenda 

ineligible for a retirement allowance, This appeal ensued in acct  

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

My review of the Board's decision is limited to the recot 

(1997)(citations omitted). Under the substantial evidence test, 

de novo determinations of facts, to make different credibility ch 

the facts found by the agency. Doherty, 425 Mass. 135, 141. S 

limited to the record before the Board, judgment on the pleadin 

P. 12(c). 

The contested issue in the instant case relates to the pa 

the scope and applicability of G. L. c. 32, § 15 (4) to Finneran'S 

allowance. G.L. c. 32, § 15(4) ("§ 15(4)") provides in relevant 

the Board has committed an error of law or whether substantial 

"Substantial evidence" is "such evidence as a reasonable mind 

In no event shall any member after final conviction of a, 
violations of the laws applicable to his office or positio# 
retirement allowance . . . nor shall any beneficiary be en 
on account of such member. The said member or his b4 
otherwise prohibited by law, a return of his accumulate 

tions, Finneran was re iced to 

of a legislative act such that his 

October 25, 2012, the oard 

ion that Finneran be fo d 

rdance with G.L. c. 32, § 16(3). 

reviewing court may "maw 
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nce this Court's review is 
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Emphasis added. 

In terms of statutory interpretation, the SJC has made ci 	where a reviewing ourt is 
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called upon to interpret the terms of a statute, the court must lo 

ascertained from all [the statute's] words construed by the orditi 

language, considered in connection with the cause of its enac 

to be remedied and the main object to be accomplished." Hank; 

(1934), and cases cited. See also Sullivan v. Brookline, 435 MEL 

because § 15(4) is penal in nature, the interpretation thereof mu 
 

the scope or reach of the penalty as contemplated by the Legisl 

Teachers' Retirement System, 469 Mass. 384, 389 (2014); Stat.  

446 Mass. 169, 174-175 (2006); Collatos v. Boston Retirement 

(1986) (G. L. c. 32, § 15, "imposes a penalty on employees" an, 

suspending the sword of retirement benefits forfeiture over tho 

might be tempted to transgress"). 

Massachusetts appellate authority has further focused a 

analysis by holding that "[t]he substantive touchstone [of G. L. 

General Court is criminal activity connected with the office or 

did not intend pension forfeiture to follow as [an automatic con 

convictions. Only those violations related to the member's offiC 

Looking to the facts of each case for a direct link between the c 

office or position best effectuates the legislative intent of § 15 ( 

Contributory Retirement Appeal Bd. 423 Mass. 1, 4-5 (1996). 

"does not mean that the crime itself must reference public empl 

particular position or responsibilities," Maher v. Justices of the 

Dep't., 67 Mass. App. Ct. 612, 616 (2006), or that the crime ne 
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committed at or during work. Durkin v., Boston Retirement Bd., 3 Mass. A p. Ct. 116, 19 

(2013). Where the crime itself does not reference public emplo ment or bear a direct fa tual link 

through use of the position's resources, however, there must be S•me direct connection etween 

the criminal offense and the employee's official capacity by waY of the laws directly ap e licable 

to the public position. Gamey, 469 Mass. at 389. 

DISCUSSION 

Introduction 

Turning to the issue whether the Board's decision that Fi eran must forfeit his ension is 

legally tenable, I conclude that it is not. Although the record in cates that Finneran's c nviction 

referenced his public employment, inasmuch as the position Fi eran held al the time o his 

perjured testimony and at all times relevant thereto, there is nos bstantial evidence to s ppott- 
c, 	c72. 

the Board's conclusion that Finneran's conviction bore a direct 1 actual link to his pos14 as 
Lni 

House Member and/or Speaker. Additionally, there is also no s bstantial evidence to 	sort ie 
-0 

c 
Board's conclusion that Finneran's conviction violated a core 	ction of his position ii.House 

c , 	cn 
Member and/or Speaker because there is no evidence in the recd rd of any code, rule or W co  

applicable to Finneran's public position that connects his convi'•tion with his office. 

Accordingly, the Board's decision must be reversed. 

Discussion 

A. 	No Direct Link 

First, there is no substantial evidence in the record to co dude that there is a dir ct link 

between Finneran's conviction and his position as a Member 	or Speaker of the Ho se. The 

Board concluded otherwise, stating in relevant part: 
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sustained its burden of substantial evidence concerning this pro' g of the § 15(4) analys s. The 

plain language of § 15 (4), requires a direct link between the cri 'nal offense and a vio ation of 

the laws applicable to the office and I do not find that exists int
l 

is case. 

CONCLUSION 

The Board's underlying decision is not based on subst 

Board's decision is HEREBY set aside and REVERSED and 

pleadings is DENIED. The plaintiff's motion for judgment on 

Finneran's retirement allowance is hereby ordered REINSTA 

Board's termination. 

So ordered. 

Dated: October 9, 2015 
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